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John van Loben Sels, Esq. (SBN 201354) 
jvanlobensels@fishiplaw.com 
Jennifer Shih, Esq. (SBN 276225) 
jshih@fishiplaw.com 
Fish IP Law, LLP 
2603 Main Street, Suite 1000 
Irvine, California 92614-4271 
Telephone:  949-943-8300 
Facsimile:   949-943-8358 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff,  
X17, Inc. 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 
 
 

X17, Inc., a California corporation, 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
   v. 
 
YAHOO!, INC. and VERIZON 
COMMUNICATIONS, INC. 
   Defendants. 
 

Case No.: 5:20-cv-2683 
 
 
 
COMPLAINT FOR COPYRIGHT 
INFRINGEMENT (17 U.S.C. § 101 et 
seq.) AND CONTRIBUTORY 
COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT 
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Plaintiff X17, Inc. (“X17”) alleges as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff X17, Inc. is a California corporation with offices located at 

1301 Amalfi Drive, Pacific Palisades, CA 92072. X17 hosts a vast digital archive 

of photographs of the biggest celebrities and newsmakers at x17agency.com. 

2. Defendant Yahoo! Inc., is a Delaware corporation with offices located 

at 701 1st Avenue, Sunnyvale, CA 94089. 

3. Defendant Verizon Communications, Inc. (“Verizon”) is a Delaware 

corporation with offices located at 1095 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY.  

4. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Verizon’s business was branded 

Oath after the acquisition of Yahoo, Inc. and AOL, Inc. 

5. Defendant Yahoo! Inc., and Verizon Communications, shall be 

collectively referred to as “Yahoo” or “Defendants”.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This is a civil action seeking damages and injunctive relief for 

copyright infringement under the Copyright Act of the United States, 17 U.S.C. § 

101, et seq. 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because 

Defendant Yahoo! Inc.’s principal place of business is located in this district.  

9. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c), 

and/or § 1400(a). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

10. X17 brings this action seeking redress for Defendants’ infringement 

of the copyright Registration Nos. VA2-192-327 and VA2-192-328 (the “Works”). 

11. A true and correct copy of the Works is attached hereto as Exhibit A.    

12. Yahoo and X17 entered into a Content License Agreement on January 

Case 5:20-cv-02683   Document 1   Filed 04/17/20   Page 2 of 6



 

 -2-  

COMPLAINT FOR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

11, 2012, which terminated on December 9, 2018 (“Content License Agreement”). 

13. Yahoo decided not to renew the Content License Agreement upon 

termination. 

14. On or about December 18, 2018, X17 reached out to Yahoo regarding 

the possibility of a renewed license agreement and did not receive a response. 

15. On or about November 14, 2018, X17 sent an email to Yahoo 

providing notice that the use of X17’s images from content partners such as Time, 

Inc./People, Conde Nast/Advance, U.S. Weekly, Entertainment Tonight, etc. 

(“Content Partners”) would be prohibited. 

16. At no time did X17 grant distribution and/or syndication rights of the 

Works to any of Yahoo’s Content Partners.  

17. From January 1, 2019 to present, Plaintiff is informed and believes 

that Yahoo improperly reproduced, published, and transmitted numerous X17 

photographs including but not limited to the below (“Infringing Photographs”) 

without a license: 
• https://www.yahoo.com/lifestyle/selena-gomez-wore-sold-urban-
165502556.html   
•  https://finance.yahoo.com/news/meet-bella-gigis-favorite-shoe-
184018269.html   
• https://finance.yahoo.com/news/curious-case-kanye-west-shoes-
212959219.html   
•  https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/david-foster-katharine-mcphee-
stroll-183547784.html   
•  https://finance.yahoo.com/news/kourtney-kardashian-does-her-holiday-
162740583.html   
• https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/kourtney-kardashian-does-her-
holiday-162740583.html   
• https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/kylie-jenner-kim-kardashian-look-
152126008.html   
•  https://finance.yahoo.com/news/kylie-jenner-kim-kardashian-look-
152126008.html   
•  https://www.yahoo.com/lifestyle/kylie-jenner-claims-paparazzi-photos-
143021515.html   
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• https://finance.yahoo.com/news/justin-bieber-hailey-baldwin-best-
152244903.html   
• https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/jennifer-garner-apos-apos-number-
161138921.html   
•  https://finance.yahoo.com/news/jennifer-garner-apos-apos-number-
161138921.html   
•  https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/ben-affleck-enters-rehab-third-
014711297.html   
•  https://finance.yahoo.com/news/ben-affleck-enters-rehab-third-
014711297.html   
• https://www.yahoo.com/lifestyle/kim-kardashian-west-takes-dior-
144612263.html 
• https://www.yahoo.com/lifestyle/kanye-west-sneaker-socks-
171343309.html 
• https://finance.yahoo.com/news/kristen-stewart-stella-maxwell-spending-
184533976.html 
• https://news.yahoo.com/news/kristen-stewart-stella-maxwell-spending-
184533976.html 
• https://finance.yahoo.com/news/ben-affleck-lindsay-shookus-step-
201928072.html 
• https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/britney-spears-sam-asghari-step-
001153231.html 
• https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/lily-collins-noah-centineo-just-
010319361.html 

18. Yahoo’s Content Partners did not remove the Works or the Infringing 

Photographs. 

19. X17 is entitled to redress for Defendants’ willful, knowing, and 

purposeful use and exploitation of the Works, for its own financial benefit with 

full knowledge that such use constituted infringement of, and was in disregard of, 

X17’s rights.   

 
COUNT I 

COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT 
(17 U.S.C. §§ 106 and 501) 

20. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the above Paragraphs as if fully set 

forth herein. 

Case 5:20-cv-02683   Document 1   Filed 04/17/20   Page 4 of 6

https://finance.yahoo.com/news/justin-bieber-hailey-baldwin-best-152244903.html
https://finance.yahoo.com/news/justin-bieber-hailey-baldwin-best-152244903.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/jennifer-garner-apos-apos-number-161138921.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/jennifer-garner-apos-apos-number-161138921.html
https://finance.yahoo.com/news/jennifer-garner-apos-apos-number-161138921.html
https://finance.yahoo.com/news/jennifer-garner-apos-apos-number-161138921.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/ben-affleck-enters-rehab-third-014711297.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/ben-affleck-enters-rehab-third-014711297.html
https://finance.yahoo.com/news/ben-affleck-enters-rehab-third-014711297.html
https://finance.yahoo.com/news/ben-affleck-enters-rehab-third-014711297.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1h1kwUqfkvd4sdJ1O31UPx-Rlz_vnEZa8CmLLnVO__1rgocF4n7Z1E0TAl4F42SSSGtX1XJM6ZjKR-aI-JyuPPnAdwqpvr9JLJqxOgndEqKA-4a-O0v0VK_EE7ACMd_xlfYNbvbC8kOA8nmi2aH6noc4GX7NF5Kdo8HLEAwWT-7ezsa8Hi7z8KqAbrP_XfoRewz_zEWobZbb_frJHnfrH9RR8cduRzU4_5RKyLIyGDbZg-39HTfTZolt2Obu9eYnIM8epYpywLghiAidXJJevOS32Xf2HpYg3R__g_rXw_yhpVW4mu2R1SrMheiDk2hYf_RWNxBu54tVz_nFkrbI0ALPYEuxsSEzbEqqJ9_VL7JhUgOGVtI30WrV-HwSdbh_y/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.yahoo.com%2Flifestyle%2Fkim-kardashian-west-takes-dior-144612263.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1h1kwUqfkvd4sdJ1O31UPx-Rlz_vnEZa8CmLLnVO__1rgocF4n7Z1E0TAl4F42SSSGtX1XJM6ZjKR-aI-JyuPPnAdwqpvr9JLJqxOgndEqKA-4a-O0v0VK_EE7ACMd_xlfYNbvbC8kOA8nmi2aH6noc4GX7NF5Kdo8HLEAwWT-7ezsa8Hi7z8KqAbrP_XfoRewz_zEWobZbb_frJHnfrH9RR8cduRzU4_5RKyLIyGDbZg-39HTfTZolt2Obu9eYnIM8epYpywLghiAidXJJevOS32Xf2HpYg3R__g_rXw_yhpVW4mu2R1SrMheiDk2hYf_RWNxBu54tVz_nFkrbI0ALPYEuxsSEzbEqqJ9_VL7JhUgOGVtI30WrV-HwSdbh_y/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.yahoo.com%2Flifestyle%2Fkim-kardashian-west-takes-dior-144612263.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1dOlGbb7inXKXzGTKHmDypKimS0hrcS9n-s9pQdf9xIoP2BfDHllmatdzknwlKaqH3B6tg-46_F78hyixaUL3HjbZgh-hdAAbzG5TBXXoPdBkzkxgKxLU0gtT-toZl7Kc1xQD9DnYN9veoLHVW0q99JupZbrawNBrzBBF66wE2S0TscS_v8Rv2eag7dvstRVBWlB7gOgA4ZHd7yB5ZKWDx7xmCX7eldXOy8S-8DIkaA4iUjzCZfZEGuH5mSH0vCssIafHoS4gdn3BEy3qELZ09-dZW5Q4jNgmiB0np35imUIx7tP_LM1hk0piF-2DmH3-4pi9Mk6mkyc2IVidq9iW2EfT07Tf0rE0oMp9dRV-jIIzQ6M1qUC6NWlz4fFUUP-u/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.yahoo.com%2Flifestyle%2Fkanye-west-sneaker-socks-171343309.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1dOlGbb7inXKXzGTKHmDypKimS0hrcS9n-s9pQdf9xIoP2BfDHllmatdzknwlKaqH3B6tg-46_F78hyixaUL3HjbZgh-hdAAbzG5TBXXoPdBkzkxgKxLU0gtT-toZl7Kc1xQD9DnYN9veoLHVW0q99JupZbrawNBrzBBF66wE2S0TscS_v8Rv2eag7dvstRVBWlB7gOgA4ZHd7yB5ZKWDx7xmCX7eldXOy8S-8DIkaA4iUjzCZfZEGuH5mSH0vCssIafHoS4gdn3BEy3qELZ09-dZW5Q4jNgmiB0np35imUIx7tP_LM1hk0piF-2DmH3-4pi9Mk6mkyc2IVidq9iW2EfT07Tf0rE0oMp9dRV-jIIzQ6M1qUC6NWlz4fFUUP-u/https%3A%2F%2Fwww.yahoo.com%2Flifestyle%2Fkanye-west-sneaker-socks-171343309.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1SHQl_3dl0t7GyhviQV0EjqObul3_CCNDZ8t9iOrI5uJ223ctKY-1isRlyUVBViKSk-ZJPilDJKakMAysrYuu4tLcC6bbhI-KAg-AHZO2Yw-M5gcpOEovnUknigU1TDBcWU9raESVMtslmGtwSdQ4P160FMV-0cCsJGdcfx4yPRhpvwuTohbxogopI6WJC85wp86j-jqk5Ioj7qfvJHM8WFFwbMppmWWe98VxhiZL2XcqRaGYNdH5D7M8s8gdTPwY3zErHu6ut2_bu-tAdsJ4VaPZ_0ECzzgI_T_rJwPmb3WoS91st195-_07Grun-d85BL1OQ4gTE9gjNIXtyxUngwE_rzTAKHVL1X9XPA_0ioWUvj_VKY_vhZzFiIHjVySd/https%3A%2F%2Ffinance.yahoo.com%2Fnews%2Fkristen-stewart-stella-maxwell-spending-184533976.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1SHQl_3dl0t7GyhviQV0EjqObul3_CCNDZ8t9iOrI5uJ223ctKY-1isRlyUVBViKSk-ZJPilDJKakMAysrYuu4tLcC6bbhI-KAg-AHZO2Yw-M5gcpOEovnUknigU1TDBcWU9raESVMtslmGtwSdQ4P160FMV-0cCsJGdcfx4yPRhpvwuTohbxogopI6WJC85wp86j-jqk5Ioj7qfvJHM8WFFwbMppmWWe98VxhiZL2XcqRaGYNdH5D7M8s8gdTPwY3zErHu6ut2_bu-tAdsJ4VaPZ_0ECzzgI_T_rJwPmb3WoS91st195-_07Grun-d85BL1OQ4gTE9gjNIXtyxUngwE_rzTAKHVL1X9XPA_0ioWUvj_VKY_vhZzFiIHjVySd/https%3A%2F%2Ffinance.yahoo.com%2Fnews%2Fkristen-stewart-stella-maxwell-spending-184533976.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1dogfYe7ymYbNUJNUTJz1VaBWhGnx5JjMjDE8iLPX1hD0j-elTIuvi5IvgXYq3PCza1fKXXfqYs6efKOs7firXpWLJKgN3hf4rzs_AAVuN5_zi8zskSoKvtLK6ER21KarSOUd2Y10in4L-kKReoNX4TcB4fIvAdjq-KVfqeI1HO7RiFBMrd2-cfalyBrMgakFdbTcNMvA9IsXl-DH1HV3YZKPFZTrJAaEkqdSFVeZtkXWhTspKi9tLmeagH2r6gca1KrrZZgs1H5pEL8WmKuER9VrJCP2rRWQnLEK2Qb49pSeTFkv_wDuapgqlCWxsD_yD-ihI7uO9miRQqt_-rI--AoJZATetcdLYE70HW4N1iQ/https%3A%2F%2Fnews.yahoo.com%2Fnews%2Fkristen-stewart-stella-maxwell-spending-184533976.html
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1dogfYe7ymYbNUJNUTJz1VaBWhGnx5JjMjDE8iLPX1hD0j-elTIuvi5IvgXYq3PCza1fKXXfqYs6efKOs7firXpWLJKgN3hf4rzs_AAVuN5_zi8zskSoKvtLK6ER21KarSOUd2Y10in4L-kKReoNX4TcB4fIvAdjq-KVfqeI1HO7RiFBMrd2-cfalyBrMgakFdbTcNMvA9IsXl-DH1HV3YZKPFZTrJAaEkqdSFVeZtkXWhTspKi9tLmeagH2r6gca1KrrZZgs1H5pEL8WmKuER9VrJCP2rRWQnLEK2Qb49pSeTFkv_wDuapgqlCWxsD_yD-ihI7uO9miRQqt_-rI--AoJZATetcdLYE70HW4N1iQ/https%3A%2F%2Fnews.yahoo.com%2Fnews%2Fkristen-stewart-stella-maxwell-spending-184533976.html
https://finance.yahoo.com/news/ben-affleck-lindsay-shookus-step-201928072.html
https://finance.yahoo.com/news/ben-affleck-lindsay-shookus-step-201928072.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/britney-spears-sam-asghari-step-001153231.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/britney-spears-sam-asghari-step-001153231.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/lily-collins-noah-centineo-just-010319361.html
https://www.yahoo.com/entertainment/lily-collins-noah-centineo-just-010319361.html


 

 -4-  

COMPLAINT FOR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

21. X17 is the sole owner of a valid U.S. copyright registration in the 

Works. 

22. Through Defendants conduct as alleged herein, Defendants have 

infringed X17’s copyright in the Works in violation of both Sections 106 and 501 

of the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 106 and 501. 

23. Defendants’ acts of infringement are willful, intentional, and 

purposeful, in disregard of and with indifference to X17’s rights. 

24. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct constituting 

copyright infringement, X17 is entitled to his election of statutory damages under 

17  U.S.C. § 504(c), or his actual damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

25. X17 is also entitled to Defendants’  profits attributable to the 

infringement, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b), including an accounting of, and a 

constructive trust with respect to such profits. 

26. X17 is further entitled to his attorneys’ fees and full costs pursuant to 

17 U.S.C. § 505 and otherwise according to law.   

 
COUNT II 

CONTRIBUTORY COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT 
27. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the above Paragraphs as if fully set 

forth herein. 

28. Plaintiff is informed and believes and alleges that Defendants, 

knowingly induced, participated in, aided and abetted, and resultantly profited 

from the reproduction, and/or creation of derivative works based on the Works. 

29. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendants induced the 

Content Partners’ infringement of the Works. 

30. By reason of the Defendants, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue 

to suffer substantial damages to its business in an amount to be established at trial. 

31. Plaintiff is entitled to disgorgement of Defendants’ profits directly 

and indirectly attributable to Defendants’ infringement of the Works in an amount 
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to be established at trial.  

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants, and each 

of them, jointly and severally as follows: 

1. For damages in such amount as may be found, or as otherwise permitted 

by law. 

2. Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendants, its agents, 

servants, employees, officers and all persons and entities in active 

concert and participation with them from using X17’s Works.  

3. For an accounting of, and the imposition of constructive trust with 

respect to, Defendants’ profits attributable to its infringement of X17’s 

copyright in the Work. 

4. For prejudgment interest according to law. 

5. For X17’s reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and disbursements in this 

action.  

6. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 

 
 
 

Date: April 17, 2020   FISH IP LAW, LLP 

 
    By: /s/ John van Loben Sels  
     John van Loben Sels 
     Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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